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PDA
Personal Digital Assistant, e.g. Palm or HP iPaq.

Sales Forces Automation System
Software used for supporting sales processes in compa-
nies.

Usability
The usability or user-friendliness of an interactive system.
Interactive systems are those that feature a man/machine
interface and respond to user actions. These include both
simple machines as well as highly sophisticated software
and websites.

Web Services
Technology for integrating heterogeneous software 
applications via the Internet with the aid of standardised
transmission protocols and data formats.

XML (Extensible Mark-up Language)
A simplified programming language based on SGML 
and which constitutes an advanced version of HTML. XML
permits the simplified and correct creation of complex
hypertext documents within the data traffic of the WWW.
In particular, XML is used in the e-commerce area of the
Internet.

Corporate Governance
In the wake of the globalisation of the financial markets,
good Corporate Governance is becoming increasingly
important not just for listed companies, as it is vital to
gain the acceptance of investors in the competitive mar-
ketplace. 
In international linguistic usage, the term Corporate
Governance denotes corporate management and corpo-
rate control geared to assuring long-term value creation.
In national linguistic usage, Corporate Governance de-
notes the legal and factual regulatory framework for the
management and monitoring of a company.
In future, companies wishing to successfully attract in-
vestors on the capital market will gear their corporate
management activities to the basic principles of a proper
Corporate Governance strategy.

e-business
The electronic processing of business processes either
within or between companies on the basis of Internet
technology.

e-commerce
Electronic processing of transactions via the Internet.

e-mail campaign
Addressing customers using the electronic medium of 
e-mail. The advantages are lower costs, high speed and
the immediacy of the contact. e-mail campaigns are cur-
rently the most popular form of marketing commonly
referred to as e-marketing, i.e. marketing conducted by
means of Internet technology.

Enterprise Application Integration (EAI)
Methods, software and processes for integrating various
software applications within companies or beyond the
confines of company boundaries.

Ergonomics
The adaptation of technology to humans. When devising
Internet pages, the term ‘ergonomics’ entails designing
websites with the user’s comfort in mind. This includes
the navigation, design and organisation of the information.
An Internet presentation should be clear, self-explanatory,
meet expectations, fault tolerant and intuitive.

Information Architecture
The design and arrangement of browser-based informa-
tion. Information architecture deals with the organisation
and layout of the information content of a website. This
includes both the structure of the individual pages and the
internal correlation of the pages. The objective here being
to assist the user in successfully and quickly finding spe-
cific information and understanding it.

Microsoft .NET
Technology initiative launched by Microsoft with the aim 
of developing software for business applications based on
Internet standards such as XML.

Mobile Commerce
e-commerce conducted using Internet-enabled mobile
terminals. Possible terminals include WAP or iMode-
enabled mobile telephones, in addition to PDAs with wire-
less Internet access via mobile communication or WLAN.

Glossary

syzygy in KEUR 1999* 2000* 2001* 2002

Revenues 8,390 14,174 14,699 14,222

Gross margin 3,573 5,953 5,632 5,337

in % of revenues 42.6% 42.0% 38.3% 37.5%

EBITDA 1,280 1,194 –243 –265

in % of revenues 15.2% 8.4% –1.65% –1.9%

EBIT 880 594 –1,131 –940

in % of revenues 10.5% –4.2% –7.7% –6.6%

Net income** 699 25 –7,182 408

in % of revenues 8.3% –0.1% –48.9% 2.8%

Earnings per share (basic in EUR) k.A. –0.02 –0.60 0.03

Employees (end of year) 86 150 121 125

Employees (annual average) 68 129 132 120

Revenue per employee (annual average) 123 110 111 119

Liquid funds and securities 1,050 55,878 54,570 58,297

Cash flow from operating activities 0,563 1,482 340 3,318

** Pro-forma-values

** Corresponds to definition per DVFA/SG
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1.1 Intro
Mission Statement

Mission Statement.

‹To create value for Europe’s leading organisations by connecting
their people, customers and systems in smarter ways using internet-
related technologies.›

We are a leading supplier of inter-

net solutions in communicating,

trading, learning and entertaining.

We focus our resources with spec-

ific business and technological

expertise such as our sector lead-

ing position in the provision of sales

and marketing internet solutions to

the automotive industry. Our adop-

tion of new technologies such as

mobile commerce using .NET con-

tinues to secure our position as the

leading internet technology innova-

tor. We have perfected the process

of designing attractive brand

worlds by engaging information

architects and relying on innovative

approaches in usability research.

syzygy creates added value for

Europe’s leading companies.

Run of the E-Business-Curve
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1.2 Intro
Service delivery

Our services for successful internet solutions
The internet is breaking down the last remaining barriers
between suppliers, companies and consumers. Companies
have to respond to this trend, venturing down new and inno-
vative paths to add value for customers. Our services have
been tailored to hone clients’ competitive edge in the digital
economy, thereby helping them to build profitable relation-
ships with customers and suppliers. 
Success can be planned: with the help of usability labs, we
are in a position to evaluate internet solutions. As an inter-
net-solutions company, we combine technology, marketing
and creativity. 

Strategic consulting
We support our clients in evolving strategies for creating
long-term, profitable internet solutions. Our service portfolio
runs the gamut from market research to business-model
analyses right up to developing internet solutions and online
marketing strategies. Our experience with different sectors,
brands and consumers, married to in-depth process expert-
ise, makes us the ideal business services partner for com-
panies looking to digital media for lasting competitive advan-
tages.

Initial planning and design
We combine technological know-how with creativity. Our
expertise in journalism, informational architecture, graphic
and communications design as well as our wide-ranging
experience from hundreds of projects permit us to develop
innovative internet solutions that meet exacting visual stan-
dards, offer outstanding functionality and excellent usability.
We are experts in designing human-machine interfaces and
perfect our solutions by thoroughly researching brand- and
user-related aspects.

Application development and systems integration
syzygy’s specialty is the technical implementation of e-com-
merce solutions. Our e-commerce solutions are behind the
efficient internet sales of more than 1 million products every
year. In developing internet solutions, syzygy places particu-
lar importance on superior process security, easy expand-
ability, robustness, individuality and enabling our customers
to create added value and generate a profit. In a word, we
create lasting competitive advantages.

Project management
Project management of internet solutions requires three
specific components. Firstly, a foundation in traditional soft-

Service delivery.

Initial planning
and design

Project
management

Strategic consulting

Application development and
systems integration

ware development methodologies with trained staff and dis-
ciplined processes. Secondly, however, the ability to design
browser-based interfaces to deliver brand experiences
requires a more agile approach to iterative development and
early prototyping to demonstrate project process. Conse-
quently, the third leg of programme management becomes
key as parallel streams of business changing work are
evolved against a set of defined requirements. syzygy has
expertise in bringing these principles of project manage-
ment together.

‹Using the internet to create solutions for communicating, trading, learning and entertaining.› 
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The first half-year
The first six months saw a restructuring in the Board of
Management and in German operations, accompanied by
important staffing increases in Germany and the UK. Plan-
ning for the management buy-out in France continued and
was brought to a successful conclusion in the third quarter.
This step effectively eliminated the primary cause of our
losses. Balancing business models in Germany and the UK
and divesting French operations made it possible to return
to profitability in the second half-year – we had reached our
main goal for 2002.

Board Members’ Statement.
2.1 Executive Board

Board Members’ Statement

Dear Shareholders,
syzygy has just brought its second financial year as a pub-
licly traded company to a close. As expected, the difficult
market environment has affected our business. Nonethe-
less, we managed to steer a very promising course by keep-
ing planning conservative and shoring up our competitive
position.

Reliable planning – exceeded financial targets
The 2002 financial year straddled two divergent half-years:

syzygy AG is in a stable financial posi-

tion. Despite the unfavorable environ-

ment, the Company’s situation has

continued to improve. By stepping

back from the loss-making business

in France and performing so well in

Germany and the UK, the Company

managed to return to profitability. 

The third and fourth quarters finished

above target. Current business was

expanded and important new cus-

tomers were gained. The syzygy

share offers enormous upward

potential.



2.1 Executive Board
Board Members’ Statement

The second half-year
The third and fourth quarters finished above target. The
measures we adopted led to the changes we had hoped for.
In the end, the syzygy Group generated an operating profit
during this period. Furthermore, cash-flow was positive,
with the Company’s cash reserves growing by 3.7 million
EUR to some 58.3 million EUR. 

For the total year, syzygy generated pre-tax earnings of 2.0
million EUR and 0.03 cents per share. syzygy bucked the
sluggish market trend, proving its reliability and reaching 
its goals.

syzygy United Kingdom
In the UK, after changes in Group Management Structure,
we started the new year strongly and attained spectacular
results in a difficult market: not only did sales increase, but
the operating performance strengthened considerably. The
foundation of these improvements was the expansion of
existing business relationships with such companies as
DaimlerChrysler and Mazda Motor Europe as well as the
development of new customers such as AirMiles (subsidiary
of British Airways), ATS-Euromaster and MacMillan. I would
like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt thanks
to syzygy’s management and staff in the UK.

syzygy Germany & syzygy Holding
Business in Germany has remained extremely profitable for
syzygy in the last several years. Nevertheless, the transition
to the 2002 financial year was difficult, requiring the Compa-
ny to be restructured. In addition, we reinforced the German

syzygy team during the year with more experts from our
industry. As a result, we were able to turn around the Com-
pany quickly and attained pleasing results in the second half
of the financial year. Our relationships with DaimlerChrysler
in Stuttgart and O2 (formerly VIAG Interkom) were expanded.
Further, market leader Ferrero joined the ranks of our cus-
tomers after we outstripped our competitors in a presenta-
tion competition. 

I would also like to especially mention that, by pursuing a
clever investment strategy, syzygy AG’s financial experts in
Bad Homburg generated a much higher profit than we antic-
ipated with the cash reserves from our IPO. I would also like
to thank all employees in Germany for their excellent work.

New talent on board
During the financial year, syzygy hired an unprecedented
number of seasoned experts who had worked for such
household names as Pixelpark, Popnet, BBDO Interone,
Argonauten, Sapient and Accenture. syzygy’s solidity is an
essential factor for cooperation, not only for customers but
also for our professional and management staff. Thanks to
our excellent starting position, we are confident that we can
continue to profit from these conditions.

Outlook 2003
There does not appear to be any economic improvement in
sight for this year, either. Companies are tightening their
purse strings for R&D even more. To make matters worse,
the tense political situation may have an unfavorable impact
on the investment climate in some industries. 

syzygy’s prime goal for 2003 is to attain a positive EBIT. We
are also planning to grow, both organically and non-organi-
cally. Potential strategic partnerships, including acquisitions
of companies, are being carefully examined in light of all
opportunities and risks. We will not aim for growth at any
price by wildly purchasing companies.

The share
syzygy has cash reserves amounting to some 58 million
EUR, or the equivalent of some 4.83 EUR per share. syzygy
is undervalued and offers shareholders considerable
upward potential. We assure our shareholders that we will
continue to be cautious in using funds obtained through the
stock market. We will venture further down our chosen path
– adding value for customers, employees and shareholders. 

Marco Seiler, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Sven-Roger von Schilling, Frank Wolfram, 
Chief Financial Officer Chief Technology Officer
(CFO) (CTO)

| 05



3.1 Strategy
Potentials for Growth

The days of internet euphoria driven by technology exuber-
ance are long gone. In the wake of slowing investments in
the IT sector, the momentum predicted for 2002 has not
materialized, neither for XML web services for integrating
business processes between companies nor for mobile
internet solutions. Nonetheless, syzygy enhanced its know-
how in both areas and developed ground-breaking solutions
such as “Mobile IMT” in the past financial year. “Mobile IMT”
is the mobile version of an integrated sales-force-automa-
tion system for O2 sales department serving business cus-
tomers. 

In 2003, we will see some key trends develop that will
demand our focus. Firstly,ithe fields of sales and marketing
will seek to better exploit the internet applications. Since
1995, syzygy has been developing internet solutions to sup-
port sales employees in the European automotive industry.
There is no question that the internet is the most efficient
tool for direct and dialog-based marketing purposes, par-
ticularly when it comes to winning new customers.
Secondly, distributed learning will become more central to
many corporations as they seek competitive advantage in
attracting employees and customers and in better manage-
ment of suppliers. The developments of intranets and

Now that technology exuberance has

waned, the internet is being increasingly

used only where it can make a measu-

rable and visible benefit to companies.

Since 1995, syzygy has been developing

internet solutions to support sales and

marketing employees across industries.

Internet platforms developed by syzygy

offer extensive functions for winning new

customers and for integrating distribu-

tion networks, dealers and manufactur-

ers. We believe that the integration of

online and offline worlds for guiding 

customer dialogs offers a potential for

expanding our portfolio of services. At

the heart of our 2003 strategy are inte-

grated internet solutions that support

sales staff and focus on users and utility.

This will create business value in com-

municating, trading, learning and enter-

taining where connections can be made

between people as consumers and

employees and the systems they use.

06 |

The best solutions to 
benefit the customer.
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3.1 Strategy
Potentials for Growth

extranets are the early stages of this development that will
continue as e-learning becomes more established in com-
merce and opublic services.Using the power of internet con-
nectivity to create real value, syzygy’s expertise in delivering
global learning applications for for clients such as Daimler-
Chrysler and Macmillan Publishing keep us at the forefront
of these developments.

Internet platforms for customer acquisition
Like the solutions developed by syzygy for Mercedes-Benz’s
launch of van models in Europe, internet platforms reach
the target groups and present product-related and pricing
information in an appealing format for consumers, including
product finders and tools for making comparisons.
The next step in acquiring customers is to initiate a dialog
phase. Internet platforms for automotive manaufacturer’s
contain “call-to-action” elements that permit users to book
a test drive, to contact a dealership or to request a brochure.
Additional components of the platform aid in managing 
e-mail campaigns and italso offers an extensive reporting
system for measuring the success of the initiative.

‹The internet as an efficient tool for connecting people in sales and marketing.›

Internet solutions for integrating dealers and manufacturers
Another front where internet solutions have proven success-
ful in increasing efficiency is in the integration of a dealer or
distributor networks with product manufacturers. One
example is the IMC (Internet Marketing Centre), which syzy-
gyimplemented for DaimlerChrysler UK. This integrated
platform supports the local marketing activities carried out
by authorized dealerships. IMC offers the 250 dealers indi-
vidualized access to helpful sales-related information and
material. As such, IMC safeguards a timely and consistent
flow of information between thesales organization and its
authorized partners. IMC also provides dealers with online
tools for designing and creating newspaper advertisements.
The fact that these processes are centrally managed does
not only cut down on costs, but also maintains the high qual-
ity of DaimlerChrysler’s brand communication. 

We consider the integration of online and offline worlds to
guide dialogs between people as employees, students and
consumers to be one of the major challenges  for business.
That represents an opportunity to expand our portfolio of

services across communications, trading, learning and
entertaining. This focus on making connections between
people and systems is an area in which we will continue to
set standards.
In the meantime, we will be enhancing our expertise in our
core discipline – designing human-machine interfaces. We
employ information architects who devote themselves to
optimally organizing content and functions in our solutions.
Usability labs are another new service on offer: permanent
test environments that we use during the initial design
phase to best match user impact with the identity and posi-
tion of the brand. In the usability labs, test subjects assess
the design, tone and navigation of our applications.
At the heart of our 2003 strategy are integrated internet
solutions that support sales staff and focus on users and
utility. This will create business value in communicating,
trading, learning and entertaining where connections can be
made between people as consumers, employees and stu-
dents and the systems they use.
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4.1 Investor Relations
Markets and Stock Development

2. January 2002 2. June 2002 2. November  2002

Stock Statistics 2002

Average daily turnover: 16,096 shares
(whereof almost 42% traded on Xetra-System)

Closing price on 02.01.2002: 3.66 EUR
Closing price on 30.12.2002: 3.15 EUR
Highest closing Prince 2002: 4.59 EUR
Lowest closing Prince 2002: 2.72 EUR
Overall performance 2002: –13.93%

Dividend: no dividend payments 

Earnings per share (EPS) 2000: 0.01 EUR
Earnings per share (EPS) 2001: –0.60 EUR
Earnings per share (EPS) 2002: 0.03 EUR

DVFA / EPS (2000): –0.08 EUR
DVFA / EPS (2001): –0.60 EUR
DVFA / EPS (2002): 0.03 EUR

syzygy faced difficult market

conditions in 2002. After suc-

cesful management buyout 

of the french subsidiary the

syzygy share began to rise

and outperformed all relevant

indices. 

syzygy

DAX

Nemax Internet 

Nemax IT-Service

Nemax All Share

The second year. The share.
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4.1 Investor Relations
Markets and Stock Development

Market and price performance
A sluggish economy, a stock-market slump entering its 34th
month and a wave of consolidation in the internet and IT
service sector – these factors formed the backdrop to fiscal
year 2002.

We had to restructure our German operations at the begin-
ning of the year. This was compounded by the increasing
urgency of finding a solution for our loss-making business in
France. As a precautionary measure, we had already written
off all the goodwill for the French branch in the 2001 finan-
cial statements, signaling to investors that we would not be
pursuing this area of business in the future. At the start of
the third quarter, the French business, which had con-

tributed a total of some 18% to consolidated revenues, was
successfully sold to the local management. 
The retrenchment program in Germany was also completed
by mid-year. Not only did our business operations recover in
Q3 and Q4 of 2002 with the help of a strong performance
from Q2 onwards from the UK business, our stock jumped
up compared to our index benchmarks (Nemax All Share,
Nemax Internet and Nemax IT Service), even beating them. 
If we look at the absolute figures, we are of course not con-
tent with the share price performance. At the end of 2002,
our share price had lost 17.3% compared with the closing
price set on January 1st, 2002. Of course, the German 
blue-chip index (DAX) also plummeted some 44% during 
the same period. In light of that, our 2002 share price per-

WPP

EsNet, E-Net Two

BAT-Trustees

23.22%

23.63%

10.23%

Total number of
shares: 

12,000,000

Basic share facts

Total number of shares: 12,000,000 (bearer shares 
without par value) 

Market capitalisation: 37.8 Mio. EUR 
Closing price: 
3.15  EUR on 30.12.2002

Freefloat: 4,352,400 shares
ISIN: DE0005104806
German Security Code (WKN): 510480
Abbreviation Symbol: SYZ
Reuters Symbol: SYZG.DE
Bloomberg Symbol: SYZ NM Equity

Stock Exchange Centres: Prime Standard (as of 24.03.2003) 
Neuer Markt, Frankfurt 
Xetra-System

CDAX: Media
STOXX: Technology
NEMAX, Prime Standard: NEMAX Internet/All Share, 

Prime All Share

formance was relatively positive, particularly since sen-
timent for high-tech stock was consistently poor and
investors in the industry were very sparing in making 
investments.
In comparison to our German and European competitors,
our share price has been remarkably stable. For example,
directly comparable companies on the Neuer Markt lost an
average of 61%. European and US competitors lost an aver-
age of 53%; our industry index, the Nemax Internet, also
lost 53% during the same period, while the Nemax All Share
took a 63.1% nosedive. syzygy, together with its competitor
Antwerpes, (-5.7% drop in stock price), registered the short-
est drop in 2002 among European providers of internet 
services.

Our high cash position is an essential factor. The cash pro-
ceeds from the 2000 IPO have since grown from 54 million
EUR to some 58 million EUR that the Company can use for
expansion and enlargement. Investments of liquid funds
continue to be made in low-risk annuities with at least an A
rating, i.e., a good rating given with regard to the risks and
creditworthiness of a fixed-income security emitted by the
issuer. The terms to maturity still range between two and
eight years and offer a long-term yield of 5% on average.

In such difficult times, our blue-chip client portfolio is a se-
cond success factor that is helping us to keep the sales and
margins of syzygy AG relatively stable. Around three-quar-
ters of our sales are from existing customers, while virtually
all our customers are “old-economy” companies.

With overall sales remaining stable, we cut operating costs
as planned and returned to the black after selling the
French subsidiary branch in the second half-year of 2002.

Shareholder structure

Marco Seiler, CEO

Freefloat

6.65%

36.27%
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4.2 Investor Relations
Financial Calender

Good communication – in 2002 and in 2003, too
Since our IPO at the end of 2000, it has been our goal to
inform investors candidly and promptly – a goal that we have
successfully attained despite the difficult financial environ-
ment. Compared to its competitors, syzygy stood out with its
early reporting of quarterly results (currently 29 days after
the end of the quarter). We are also constantly expanding
and optimizing share-related information presented on our

Annual Results of 2002: 25. March 2003 +++ Press- and Analyst Conference 27. March 2003 +++ First Quarter Results: 29. April 2003 +++ Annual General Meeting: 4. June 2003 in Frankfurt a.M.

website. So it is no surprise that syzygy AG’s shares
appeared in some model portfolios, recommendations and
positive evaluations in the investment community in 2002
(see table).

Investor relations strategy
2002 showed that we have chosen the right path to take with
our communications strategy. We had numerous meetings
with local and international investors. We also had many
tête-à-têtes at public events and remained in constant dia-
log with institutional investors. Our focus was on the finan-
cial communities in Frankfurt, London, Stuttgart and
Munich. We also convened an analysts’ conference, a press
conference and attended four investors’ conferences.
Investor relations in 2002 also included innumerable one-
on-ones with funds managers and analysts, conversations
with journalists, telephone conferences and talks with the
press about the internet. 

>> >> >>

We comply with all important standards for transparency
and are fully committed to maintaining shareholder value 
in consideration of price and benefit in order to promptly
implement all international standards and changes.
This includes an extensive declaration of conformity with the
corporate governance code and its implementation on the
internet; a detailed report about stock transactions per-
formed by officers and members of the Supervisory Board
(Directors’ dealing); a quick and transparent announcement
once the threshold limits set forth in the Securities Act have
been attained; and the voluntary and binding commitment to
the “Prime Standard” listing quality standard. These meas-
ures reflect the seriousness of our IR strategy and create
long-term potential for the stock price.

We assure you that we will further increase the value of
syzygy AG and of your stake by remaining true to our trans-
parent, fast and pro-active information policies.
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4.3 Investor Relations
Analysts’ Estimates and 
Recommendations 2002

Date Evaluations about syzygy share Institution

13.01.2003 “neutral” – course aim 3.25 EUR WestLB Panmure
13.12.2002 “stay invested“ BetaFaktor.info
22.11.2002 ”could be sure of surviving the depression” – 

will come off as a winner SdK AktionärsNews
22.11.2002 “stick to syzygy” – new major customer BetaFaktor.info
14.11.2002 “accumulate” – share price is significantly 

quoted under netto liquidity of 4.52 EUR 
per share GBC-Research

06.11.2002 “accumulate” – further upside potential Falkenbrief
30.10.2002 “add – remains unchanged” HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt
30.10.2002 “neutral” – high cash equivalent of 4.55 EUR 

per share; rating remains unchanged Bayerische Landesbank
29.10.2002 after “neutral”-rating changed to 

“under review” WestLB Panmure
25.10.2002 “buy” – will come off as a winner BetaFaktor.info
22.10.2002 “buy” – in the black and high cash 

legitimates course aim 4.40 EUR Performaxx-Anlegerbrief
03.10.2002 “keep at it” – syzygy is close to be in the black

27.09.2002 “buy”– share price has upside potential BetaFaktor.info
12.09.2002 “speculative buy” – 

stop-loss  3 EUR Neuer Markt Inside
04.09.2002 new rating“add” – upgrade from “reduce” HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt
23.08.2002 “buy” BetaFaktor.info
31.07.2002 “speculative buy”– fair value around 

4.00 EUR obb-online.de
17.07.2002 “upside potential” Finanzen Neuer Markt
12.07.2002 “speculative buy” Hanseatischer Börsendienst
29.04.2002 “remains on watch list” – 

wait for first investments TradeCentre.de
03.04.2002 downgrade from “add” to “reduce”; 

new course aim 4 EUR HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt
18.03.2002 “speculative buy” toptrading.de
04.03.2002 “accumulate” sunday-market
31.01.2002 “add” HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt
21.01.2002 “a chance for investment” TradeCentre.de
21.01.2002 “remains overweight” GBC-Research

>> >> >>

syzygy AG 
www.syzygy.net

IR-contact
Joachim Sorg
Im Atzelnest 3
D-61352 Bad Homburg v.d.H.
Tel +49(0)6172-9488-251
Fax +49(0)6172-9488-272
E-Mail j.sorg@syzygy.net

Designated sponsors 
+ HSBC Trinkaus&Burkhardt KG aA
+ WestLB Panmure

Analysts (regular Coverage)
+ Peter Barkow, Ryan Bremner (HSBC)
+ Simon Strong (WestLB Panmure)
+ Thilo Gorlt (Bayerische Landesbank)

Further analysts giving estimates on
syzygy share
+ Norbert Kretlow (Independent Research)
+ Carsten Jansing (Hornblower Fischer)
+ Karsten Abromeit (Invera)
+ Viktor Hund (BW-Bank)
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4.4 Investor Relations
Corporate Governance

Corporate governance at syzygy AG 
The debate about values in corporate governance and trans-
parency has become increasingly important over the past 12
months. Through the Cromme Commission, the German
government created a code of conduct that itself provides a
basis for new statutes. Now, the Transparency and Disclo-
sure Law enacted on July 26th, 2002 has added § 161 to the
existing form of the Companies Act. 

The Management and Supervisory Boards of listed compa-
nies are now required to submit an annual declaration of
compliance concerning the German Corporate Governance
Code (Code). The Code stipulates the legal obligations with
regard to conduct for publicly traded companies and con-
tains additional recommendations and suggestions for
increasing corporate transparency.

The Management and Supervisory Boards of syzygy AG wel-
come the debate and the adoption and maintenance of inter-
national transparency standards in Germany. 
On the basis of our company by-laws and rules of procedure,
we already substantially complied with all recommendations
in the past. As required by law, we published an extensive
declaration of compliance for syzygy AG concerning the new
regulations on December 23rd, 2002, prior to year-end. 
We decided to implement all recommendations and sugges-
tions almost without exception. Furthermore, we have listed
all the areas in excess of the requisite disclosure obligation.
For the few areas in which syzygy does not fully comply, we
have voluntarily explained the individual reasons for this. On
our website, www.syzygy.de, under the heading “Corporate
Governance” in the Investor Relations section, we have pub-
lished additional fundamental information and the complete
corporate governance declaration of our Company, including
all details and aspects unique to our situation.

The Code differentiates between

1. Recommendations that must be observed when the dec-
laration of compliance has been made; deviations must 
be expressly disclosed. The recommendations of the Code
are marked in the text by theuse of the word “shall”.

2. Suggestions which Companies are under no obligation to
comply with; deviations do not have to be disclosed. Sug-
gestions are marked in the Code with “should” or “can”.

What does the German Corporate Governance Code entail?
The Code governs the following areas of business by means
of conduct rules:

+ Shareholders and the General Meeting
+  Interaction of Management and Supervisory Boards
+ Management Board
+  Supervisory Board
+ Transparency
+ Reporting and auditing of the annual financial statements
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Corporate Governance

syzygy AG
German SIN (WKN) 510 480
Neuer Markt
Frankfurt

December 23rd, 2002
syzygy AG undertakes to observe extensive corporate gover-
nance guidelines.

Frankfurt, December 23rd, 2002. The Bad Homburg-based
internet service provider, listed on the Prime Standard since
January 1st, 2003, undertakes to observe extensive corpo-
rate governance guidelines. The Company complies with the
German Corporate Governance Code with the following
exceptions:

(1) The recommendation to agree on a policy deductible in
the context of a D & O insurance for directors and officers
pursuant to No. 3.8 Sec. 2 German Corporate Governance
Code is not applied because syzygy AG does not believe
that the motivation and responsibility with which officers
and directors perform their tasks can be improved by
such a deductible.

(2) The recommendations to set up qualified committees of
the Supervisory Board pursuant to No. 5.3.1 German
Corporate Governance Code as well as an audit commit-
tee of the Supervisory Board pursuant to No. 5.3.2 Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code are not applied
because the Supervisory Board only consists of three
members.

(3) At present, contradictory to No. 5.4.5. Sec. 1 and 2 Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code, members of the
Supervisory Board do not receive any compensation. The
Managing and the Supervisory Board do intend, however,
to propose at the next Annual General Meeting to approve
a resolution regarding such a compensation which takes
into account the responsibility and scope of tasks of the
members of the Supervisory Board as well as the eco-
nomic situation and the performance of the enterprise.
Also to be considered here shall be the exercising of the
Chair and Deputy Chair positions in the Supervisory
Board.

syzygy AG
The Management Board

The wording of Article 161, Transparency and disclo-
sure law (TransPuG), "Declaration of compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code" (entered into force
on July 26, 2002)

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of
the listed Company shall declare past and present com-
pliance with the recommendations of the “Government
Commission on the German Corporate Governance
Code” published in the official portion of the electronic
Federal Gazette by the Federal Ministry of Justice or
shall declare which recommendations were not or are
not implemented. Said declaration shall be made per-
manently available to shareholders.

| 13
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Management Report of syzygy AG

I. General
The syzygy Group (hereinafter referred to as “syzygy” or 
“the Group”) consists of the stock corporation syzygy AG
(hereinafter referred to as “syzygy AG”) and its subsidiaries.
These subsidiaries are syzygy Deutschland GmbH and syzygy
UK Ltd. syzygy France S.A. was sold in the third quarter.
syzygy AG considers itself to be a provider of consulting,
design and implementation services for internet solutions.

syzygy acts as the managing holding company, while the
subsidiaries are responsible for the consultancy and ser-
vice sides of the business. Because of this relationship, the
report on syzygy AG is presented here together with the
report on the Group. All comments in this report refer to the
Group, unless direct reference has been made to syzygy AG.
The exempting consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with § 292 a of the German Com-
mercial Code, with US-Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (“US-GAAP”) as the basis. 

In accordance with US-GAAP rules, syzygy France S.A.’s 
contribution to consolidated earnings will be retroactively
deconsolidated. The cumulative earnings effect from the 
former French subsidiary will be posted separately in the
consolidated earnings statement under the item “earnings
from suspended business activities”. 

Following events affected the

business year 2002:

+ Steady revenues in spite of

weak markets, level almost

unchanged vs. 2001

+ Difficult market conditions

remained

+ Successful MBO of lossy 

French subsidiary

+ Positive operating cash flows

+ Liquid funds further increased 

in 2002 

Group Management Report  
of syzygy AG 2002. 
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II. Market environment and competitors
The global economic slump carried on into the 2002 finan-
cial year. While the recession that started in 2001 had dwind-
led away by the beginning of last year, the considerable
upsurge individual countries experienced turned out to be
short-lived. The global economic climate cooled off again in
the second half-year. Gloomy sentiment among businesses
and private households, severe dips in share prices and gro-
wing political tension since the previous summer fed wide-
spread worries of a return to recession.

German economic growth in 2002 stood at some 0.2%, one
of the lowest growth rates since the country’s reunification.
Year-on-year growth in the UK gross domestic product also
ebbed to only 1.7%. The European Information Technology
Observatory (EITO) and IDC have recorded a sharp down-
swing in the growth rate of the market for information and
communications technology to 1.1% for 2002.  The study
showed that investments in Germany shrunk 1.3% year-
on-year, while the same figure grew 1.6% in the UK.

For several years, one of the main drivers of economic 
growth was investment in information and telecommunica-
tions technology, even the profitability of the individual
investments was frequently not considered in the fever of
the internet boom. Grim reality reared its ugly head toward

the end of 2000; by mid-2001, the question of the profitability
of IT investments began to become more relevant.

For service providers such as syzygy, specialists in consul-
ting and implementing internet solutions covering commu-
nications, commerce, learning and entertaining, this deve-
lopment radically altered demand. Coming from a time 
characterized by double-digit growth rates, the growth
momentum for corporate spending and investments in
information technology and IT services shrunk significantly
in 2002, much as it had in 2001. Investment decisions were
frequently put on ice and priorities re-shuffled, leading to 
a postponement of projects.

One of the main consequences of this development was a
change in the demands placed on service partners. Speed of
implementation became less important, while technical pro-
ficiency, the focus on customer benefit, professionalism and
economic stability grew to influence the choice of service
providers more and more. This combined with the increas-
ingly more practical need for well-designed interfaces and
applications delivering an effective user experience.

At the same time, classic IT consultancies and IT solutions
providers, with their e-business offerings, became ever
more successful leading to growing competition intensity

and increasing pricing pressure. As a result, many competi-
tors (e.g., adcore, concept!, iXL, Pixelpark, Rubus, Razorfish,
Scient, Viant UK) were obliged to launch wide-ranging re-
trenchment programs in 2002 – some were driven to disin-
vest or even leave the market.

There are, however, some positive trends which, while they
will be a significant factor in syzygy’s long-term performan-
ce, are overshadowed by the difficult situation for the inter-
net industry, the changes this situation wrought in the indu-
stry during the 2002 financial year and the overall heighte-
ned feeling of uncertainty concerning the global economic
and political environment. 

This year’s main trends in the internet solutions sector
might be best described as “consolidation and integration”
and “performance measurement.” In this instance, “ con-
solidation” indicates the harmonization of existing, albeit
non-uniform IT systems environments. This year will see 
the emphasis placed on consolidation.

Considering the difficulty of the overall economic environment,
most IT officers have not countenanced major investments in
new systems. Instead, many companies will be more inte-
rested in integrating isolated legacy solutions and in unifying
systems environments in order to better streamline them.
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In response to the shift toward the integration of existing
systems, IT service providers will have to have extensive
systems integration expertise if they wish to be successful.
This situation will be compounded by the growing impor-
tance of enterprise application integration (EAI), particularly
when it comes to integrating in-house and external system
environments.
In this case, however, “integration” does not only refer to a
company’s own in-house IT system. In fact, a key aspect of
partnerships between companies will be the shaping of the
visual component of communications and marketing with
internet technology. In working together with other compa-

nies, businesses will be able to optimize the performance 
of their business processes all along the supply chain or
throughout the entire e-procurement process. Because of
this awareness, cross-company collaboration will soon be
much more important than it has been in the past.

The second trend mentioned above deals with measuring
the success of IT projects. Projects will only be carried out 
if they promise quick and measurable success in the form 
of a rapid return-on-investment, improved efficiency, cost
savings or better cost transparency. This type of evaluation
will be extremely important in the future. For instance, the

return on an investment made in such a project should 
ideally be made within one or two years and should yield a
measurable degree of success.

syzygy sees internet applications being used increasingly in
the fields of sales and marketing. But connectivity inside
organizations – intranets and other p2p communications –
will be key as well as embedding e-learning into e-commerce.
If we take for example the European automotive industry:
the internet is the most effective direct and dialog marketing
tool for attracting customers and fostering customer loyalty.
What is more, the internet brings together dealers and

Sales development 1999 – 2002
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Sales allocation by vertical market 2002 Sales Allocation by vertical market 2001

Automotive 61 %
Financial services 8 %
Telecommunications 12 %
Retail 19 %

Automotive 49%
Financial services 12%
Telecommunications 13%
Retail 24%

manufacturers in the automotive industry and aids in inte-
grating and coordinating online and offline worlds to create
efficient customer dialogs. As structural changes in the 
sector take effect with developments in European block
exemption laws, markets and distribution channels will
change and the Internet can be used both to protect rela-
tionships with existing markets and exploit new ones.

III. Group performance and status
The defining events in syzygy’s first half-year were the 
restructuring of the Management Board, a steep drop in
business in Germany, followed by retrenchment and with-

drawing from France. Taken together with the difficult mar-
ket environment and competitive situation in 2002, these
factors have led to a slight year-on-year drop in sales in this
year’s consolidated financial statements and an operating
loss.

In the third quarter, syzygy crossed the threshold of opera-
ting profitability, moving further into the profit zone in the
4th quarter. All in all, syzygy went through two wildly diver-
gent half-years. Financial stability was reinforced further 
in 2002. Liquid reserves jumped up some 3.7 million EUR
during the year to their current level of 58.3 million EUR,

putting them some 3 million EUR higher than the original
fund inflows from the IPO in October 2000. syzygy still has
no need of bank loans, while the 94% equity ratio clearly
documents the quality and solidity of the balance sheet.

Sales performance at virtually same level despite 
market slump
Sales in the 2002 financial year stood at 14.3 million EUR,
roughly 3% lower than last year’s levels. 

While sales in the UK were 6% up on prior-year levels, the
German subsidiary, for the first time in its history, recorded
falling sales – sales fell 11% year-on-year.
The disparate developments in the two regions shifted the
regional distribution of business only slightly; the balance
between the two subsidiaries was not disturbed. In 2002, 
UK accounted for 51% of non-consolidated sales, compared
to 47% in 2001; Germany contributed 49% to total sales in
2002 and 53% in the previous year. 

The distribution of sales by industry has changed since the
previous year because of the hesitance of financial-services
and telecommunications companies to invest. syzygy gene-
rated some 60% of its sales in the automotive industry in
2002 (previous year: 48%),12% in the telecommunications
industry (15%), 8 % in the financial-services sector (12%)
and 19% (24%) among other companies that do not fall into
these three core markets. The main cause of the shift was
the fact that syzygy managed to strengthen absolute sales
some 28% with clients in the automotive industry, while
sales to financial-services and telecommunications com-
panies sank some 34% and 18%, respectively.
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Despite the harsh economic environment, quarterly sales
improved over the financial year. The dip in business in Ger-
many ensured that the first quarter of 2002 was the weakest
quarter of the year, being some 8% lower than the fourth
quarter of 2001. And with only 1% growth, sales in the
second quarter were only marginally better. However, once
syzygy AG and the German subsidiary were successfully
restructured and the French operations were sold off, syzygy
attained relatively robust sequential growth rates of 12%
and 15% in the third and fourth quarters, respectively.

The regions
After a disappointing first quarter in Germany (1.7 million
EUR in sales), business was turned around very quickly.
Sales dropped another 4% in the second quarter, but the
business still broke even. Sales grew 11% in the third and in
the fourth quarter, leading to 2.0 million EUR in sales in the
last quarter. Furthermore, quarterly operating profit retur-
ned to low double-digit figures in the second half-year. 
The performance of the UK subsidiary in 2002 was extre-
mely positive. Quarterly sales were steadily improved from
1.5 million EUR in the first quarter to 2.1 million EUR in the

4th quarter, while operating profitability leveled off in the
low double-digit range.

syzygy generated about 90% of its sales revenue from its 
top 10 clients, a 13% increase from last year’s level of 77%.
Skilled and committed project teams yielded highly satisfied
customers. Thanks to our wide market acceptance and the
success of the projects carried out by syzygy, we were able
to realize growth in existing customer relations, primarily
with DaimlerChrysler, Siemens VDO and O2. Furthermore,
both operative companies managed to establish new 
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customer relationships during the turbulent financial year.
syzygy Germany outstripped all other competitors in a call
for tenders and was commissioned by Ferrero with redesi-
gning the corporate website. In the UK, AirMiles, a subsidi-
ary of British Airways, ATS Euromaster and MacMillan, a
publishing house in the Holtzbrinck Group, entrusted us
with their business.

Operating expenses
Gross earnings ran at some 38% in 2002, representing no
change from 2001.

Selling expenses shrunk10%, reflecting the shift in the
market environment and the lessened demand for IT ser-
vices. General administrative expenses were cut 11%.    

Fixed-asset depreciation and amortization of goodwill
Fixed-asset depreciation was about 0.5 million EUR, approx. 
0.4 million EUR above last year’s figures.  

Financial results, taxes, annual result
Financial earnings stand at almost 3.0 million EUR, some
0.3 million EUR above the prior-year level. This is equivalent
to a yield of 5.4% on the liquid reserves from the beginning
of the year. syzygy’s liquid funds have been invested conser-
vatively -1% in fixed-term deposits, 24% in annuity funds, 
32% in mortgage bonds and 41% in corporate bonds. Despi-
te the pre-tax loss that remains, syzygy’s statement of ope-
rating results shows tax expenditure in the amount of nearly
0.1 million EUR. That translates into annual earnings – 
before accounting for losses from suspended activities –
amounting to 1.5 million EUR, compared to 1.6 million EUR
in the previous year. The reduction of 0.1 million EUR is the
result of a higher tax payment in 2002. Losses from suspen-
ded activities, which amounted to almost 1.1 million EUR in
2002, come from losses generated by the former French
subsidiary between January and July of 2002.  The corre-
sponding amount in the previous year amounted to - 8.8 mil-
lion EUR. It includes not only the operating loss but also 7.9
million EUR in amortized goodwill for the French subsidiary.
This results in a net profit of 0.4 million EUR in 2002, compa-
red to a net loss of -7.2 million EUR in the previous year. That
translates into earnings of 0.03 EUR per share. In the pre-
vious year, syzygy posted a loss per share of -0.60 EUR

Portfolio structure of cash and marketable 
securities per 31. December 2002 

Fixed-term deposit 1%

Pension funds 24%

Mortage bonds 32%

Corporate bonds 43%
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resulting from amortization for the French subsidiary. At pre-
sent, the balance sheet does not include any goodwill at all.

Positive operating cash flow
During the past financial year, syzygy managed to enhance
its financial situation. Operating cash flow improved from -
0.9 million EUR in the previous year to 2.7 million EUR. The
cash flow from investment activities is affected by capital
investments and transactions with marketable securities,
into which a significant part of the Group’s current funds 
has been invested. 

Solid balance sheet structures
The balance sheet structures on December 31st, 2002
remain solid. At 94%, the equity ratio continued to be extre-
mely high (94% in the previous year). syzygy has no bank 
liabilities. Other provisions were made primarily for holiday
commitments and invoices not yet received. Provisions for
taxes and deferred taxes total 0.9 million EUR as compared
to tax reimbursement claims in the amount of 1.3 million
EUR. Liquid funds and marketable securities were 58.3 
million EUR on the cut-off date.

Investments and Research & Development
Because syzygy is a service provider that does not offer its
own products, it does not incur expenses for R&D. Invest-
ments totaled 0.3 million EUR in 2002, roughly 0.4 million
EUR less than the prior-year level. The main investments
were made in software and hardware to optimize the in-
house infrastructure. 
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Employees – investing in the future
syzygy hired four additional employees during the past
financial year. This puts the total number of staff at 125 by
the end of 2002, compared to 121 at the end of 2001. The UK
subsidiary increased its staff during 2002 from 53 to 59.
syzygy AG cut its staff from five to three, while the German
subsidiary made no changes, remaining at 63. 

Almost half of syzygy’s employees are assigned to the tech-
nology division, while some 22% work as project managers/
consultants.15% of staff are in creative and 20 % handle
administrative matters. There were no significant changes 

in the allocation of employees by divisions during the past
financial year.

Despite the slight drop in staff, employee productivity
increased 6 % to116,000 EUR per employee, from 109,000
EUR in 2001.

Employees are an important asset to service providers,
which is why we focus particularly on hiring excellent
employees and fostering their loyalty to syzygy. Thanks to
the consolidation that characterized the financial year as
well as syzygy’s growing attractiveness as an employer,

syzygy was able to bring very seasoned employees on board
to fill key positions.

In such a rapidly changing industry as the IT sector, further-
education programs are a must, not least to enhance the
motivation of the employees. During 2002, we continued to
focus further-education activities on strengthening project-
management skills and in broadening technical know-how. 

syzygy AG is proud to have such a wide range of specialist
skills and project teams at its disposal. The working envi-
ronment at syzygy is characterized by close teamwork and
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coordination among the most diverse specialist units. 
Boosted by an outstanding blend of creativity in design and
structure, in-depth technical expertise and seasoned project
management teams, our employees are extremely produc-
tive and highly motivated – engines of excellence that are
key to succeeding in our market. 

IV. Risk management
Opportunities and risks are an integral part of syzygy’s
business operations. syzygy strives to exploit opportunities
to the best of its abilities and to minimize risks as much as
possible. Risk management is one of the main elements
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used to ensure syzygy’s continued success and existence 
as a going concern.

Various risk categories exist to identify individual risks. It is
the job of the Board of Management to monitor operating
risks. There is no evaluation of overall risk by external
ratings agencies. Risks are identified, quantified and qua-
litatively evaluated throughout the entire Group using an
integrated system of management, planning and reporting.
Below is a report of the risks that could have a significant
impact on syzygy’s net worth, financial position and ear-
nings. The information available at present shows no in-

dications of risks that would jeopardize the further existence
of syzygy AG and its subsidiaries as a going concern. Risk
factors refer to overall economic trends, to syzygy’s brief
history as well as to the speed with which the market for
internet services is changing.

The majority of syzygy’s sales are generated from its busi-
ness with a select few customers. The loss of any one of 
these customers can be compensated only with delays, if at
all. During such a phase, it is usually not possible to reduce
expenses accordingly.

syzygy’s sales are not protected by long-term contracts; 
rather, sales revenue is primarily generated on the basis 
of individual contracts of limited duration. For this reason,
plans that rely on sales performance are necessarily fraught
with a high degree of risk.

Fixed price agreements form the basis of the lion’s share of
syzygy’s sales, which makes it possible that unforeseeable
losses might be incurred if the calculated project budget is
exceeded unexpectedly. In addition, syzygy assumes for each
project the standard warranty and liability obligations, which
may potentially lead to considerable follow-up costs per 
project.

Sales per employees 1999-2002Employees by function

Technology 44%

Project management 22%

Design 15%

Administration 19%

99

12
3,

00
0

00

11
0,

00
0

01

11
1,

00
0

02

11
9,

00
0

Euro



5.1 Group Management Report 
Management Report of syzygy AG

In certain cases, syzygy’s project handling requires that
extensive advance services be performed without prior pre-
payment. Should a customer refuse or be unable to pay,
resulting in previously performed services not being duly
paid, syzygy’s financial position may worsen significantly.

The services syzygy performs have a public impact. So if
there are quality defects in the execution of one of its projects,
syzygy may suffer wide-spread damage to its image. This
kind of damage has the potential to have a sustained nega-
tive impact on the future development of our company.

The professional performance of our employees is, to a
great extent, the necessary basis for the performance of the
entire company. Because of their extensive qualifications,
individual employees are particularly important. If we are

unable to retain this caliber of employees, or to continuously
engage new, highly qualified employees, syzygy’s success
may be curbed.

Investment activity in the area of internet solutions depends
greatly on the overall state of the economy, just as expenses
for online advertising and other internet-based solutions do.
A negative economic trend would distinctly reduce the mar-
ket volume syzygy is aiming for. Any steps taken to compen-
sate for such an economic trend by adjusting development
capacities could only be implemented with a certain time
lag, while additional costs would be incurred for further
restructuring measures.

Acquisitions have been and still are part of syzygy’s corpo-
rate policy. The success of all acquisitions, even those made
in the future, depends on how well the new acquisition can
be integrated into the existing structure and how well we
manage to generate the synergies which were originally the
aim of the acquisition. If an acquisition cannot be success-
fully integrated, it may decrease in value considerably, en-
tailing extraordinary depreciation requirements.

V. Forecast and events since the end of the financial 
year of 2002
The overall performance of the economy and the special cir-
cumstances of internet services after the boom in 2000 have
convinced syzygy that the market for internet solutions is
one of the most attractive growth markets for professional
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services over the medium and long terms. Nevertheless,
another difficult year is in the offing for this market seg-
ment.

syzygy believes it has an excellent market position and
stands to profit from the consolidation of competing provi-
ders. Its position is even stronger considering its significant
cash reserves of 58.3 million EUR. By withdrawing from the
French market and strengthening both its technological and
creative skills, syzygy has ideally positioned its organization
for the challenges facing it in 2003. 

The automotive industry remains one of the pillars of syzygy’s
business. syzygy believes that this market offers substantial
potential for integrated internet solutions that support sales
staff and focus on users and utility.
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syzygy is not planning any international expansion beyond its
current markets. Instead, it intends to intensify its current
activities in Germany and England. By making selective
acquisitions, it plans to fill out and strengthen its service
portfolio. It will be placing particular emphasis on whether
the companies it considers for M&A have solid and profi-
table business models.

It will also be focusing on enhancing in-house efficiency 
by enhancing project-management processes in 2003
(increasing capacity utilization).

In anticipation of a future improvement in the political and
financial climate for IT investments, syzygy is expecting an
annualized operating profit in 2003, while sales are expected
to increase moderately in the single-digit range.
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6.1 Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets in KEUR Notes Page 2002 2001

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (15) (46) 1,237 1,679

Marketable securities (16) (47) 57,060 52,891

Accounts receivable, net (17) (47) 3,300 2,974

Prepaid expenses and 
other current assets (18) (48) 3,138 3,283

Held for disposition (12) (44) 0 2,501

Total current assets 64,735 63,328

Non-current assets

Fixed assets, net (20) (49) 1,303 1,720

Other non-current assets (21) (49) 176 170

Total non-current assets 1,479 1,890

Total assets 66,214 65,218
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets in KEUR Notes Page 2002 2001

Current liabilities

Accounts payable (22) (49) 379 429

Accrued expenses (22) (49) 1,664 750

Customer advances 46 66

Tax accruals and liabilities (23) (50) 1,875 758

Other liabilities (24) (50) 324 373

Held for disposition (12) (44) 0 1,425

Total current liabilities 4,288 3,801

Shareholders' equity

Common stock* 12,000 12,000

Additional paid-in capital 53,939 54,468

Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,265 634

Retained loss – 5,277 – 5,685

Total shareholders' equity (25) (50) 61,927 61,417

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 66,214 65,218

* Contingent Capital KEUR 1,200 (prior year: KEUR 1,200)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Income Statements.
in KEUR Notes Page 2002 2001

Revenues (6) (40) 14,222 14,699

Cost of consultancy sold –8,885 –9,067

Sales & Marketing –1,253 –1,528

General and administrative expenses –4,557 –5,302

Other operating income/expenses, net (9) (41) –467 67

Operating income –940 –1,131

Other income/expenses, net –13 83

Financial income (10) (41) 2,968 2,700

Income before taxes 2,015 1,652

Income taxes (11) (42) –703 –68

Income from continuing operations (12) (44) 1,312 1,584

Loss on discontinued operations (12) (44) -905 –8,766

Net income 408 –7,182

Earnings per share from continuing operations
(basic in EUR) 0.11 0.13

Earnings per share from continuing operations
(diluted in EUR) 0.10 0.12

Earnings per share from total operations
(basic in EUR) (13) (45) 0.03 –0.60

Earnings per share from total operations
(diluted in EUR) (13) (45) 0.03 –0.60

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
in KEUR 2002 2001

Income from continuing operations 1,312 1,584

Non-cash stock compensation expenses –146 115

Depreciation and amortization 675 918

Changes in assets and liabilities:

– Accounts receivable –326 231

– Prepaid expenses and other current assets 145 –1,882

– Customer advances –20 –128

– Accounts payable and accrued expenses 864 –1,174

– Tax accruals and payables 863 367

– Other current liabilities –49 309

Cash flows from operating activities 3,318 340

Investments in fixed assets –258 –576

Changes in other non-current assets –6 –63

Purchases of marketable securities –14,087 –7,963

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 10,744 1,222

Cash flows used in investing activities –3,607 –7,380

Changes in bank liabilities 0 –9

Direct costs of IPO –129 86

Cash flows from financing activities –129 77

Exchange rate differences –195 177

Cash flow from discontinued operations 171 –1,485

Total –442 –8,271

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,679 9,950

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,237 1,679

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.

6.3 Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows
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in Shareholders’ Equity

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.
No. of shares Common Additional

issued and stock paid-in
in KEUR outstanding capital

31. December  2000 12,000 12,000 53,680

Net income

Exchange rate differences

Sale of marketable securities

Unrealized gains on marketable securities

Other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Compensation expenses for the period 115

Deferred taxes 587

Reversal of direct costs of IPO 86

31. December 2001 12,000 12,000 54,468

Net income

Exchange rate differences

Sale of marketable securities

Unrealized gains on marketable securities

Other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Compensation expenses for the period –146

Deferred taxes –254

Direct costs of IPO –129

31. December 2002 12,000 12,000 53,939

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Statements of Changes 
in Shareholders’ Equity

Comprehensive Accum. other Retained Total
income comprehensive earnings equity

income

251 1,497 67,428

– 7,182 – 7,182 – 7,182

219

–26

190

383 383 383

6,799

115

587

86

634 –5,685 61,417

408 408 408

–195

–297

1,123

631 631 631

1,038

–146

–254

–129

1,265 – 5,277 61,927



1. Basis for presentation

The consolidated financial statements of syzygy AG for the
year ended 31. December 2002, comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as "syzygy" or the
"Company") and have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("US-GAAP").

2. Description of Company’s business

syzygy primarily provides consultancy services around
eBusiness solutions to large European organisations from
its offices in the United Kingdom and Germany. The ope-
rations of the subsidiary in France were terminated as of 
1. August 2002, in the context of a management buy out. The
businesses in the UK and Germany represent the basis for
the continued provision of this service. syzygy develops and
implements strategies and solutions that enable its clients
to work together and to engage and to transact with their
business partners, employees and customers. Typically this
involves eBusiness strategy development, solution develop-
ment, specification and project planning, technical integra-
tion and the marketing and launch phase. 

3. Consolidated entities

The consolidated financial statements of syzygy include all subsidiaries in which the parent
Company holds a direct or indirect majority of voting rights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year 2002.

Name of company Share Total Net
equity income

% KEUR KEUR

Mediopoly Limited, UK 100 972 –1

syzygy UK Limited, UK 100 2,104 384

syzygy Deutschland GmbH, 
Germany* 100 415 403

* Net income before distribution of gains to syzygy AG

Until 31. July 2002 syzygy AG owned 100% of the shares of syzygy France S.A. The equity of
this company amounted to KEUR 330 at this date, the losses incurred until 31. July 2002
were KEUR 792.
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4. Principles of combination

In May 2000, the entire share capital of Mediopoly, the par-
ent company of syzygy UK and of syzygy Deutschland were
contributed to syzygy AG by a share for share exchange
which gave Mediopoly shareholders 60% (equals 4,758,420
shares) and syzygy Deutschland shareholders 40% (equals
3,166,030 shares) of syzygy AG. The total number of shares
issued in that context was 7,924,450. In accordance with 
US-GAAP (APB Opinion No. 16 “Business Combinations”)
this transaction was accounted for as a pooling of interest.
Accordingly, the combination was recorded using the his-
torical cost bases of Mediopoly and syzygy Deutschland
therefore, no recognition of goodwill was required.

Legally effective in August 2000, syzygy AG acquired all of
the 164,816 outstanding common shares of syzygy France for
a consideration of 935,550 shares of syzygy AG. These had
an equivalent transaction value of KEUR 8,481. This value was
determined on basis of a valuation by an independent expert
in May 2000 when the terms of the combination were agreed
upon. In accordance with US-GAAP (Accounting Principles
Board Opinion16, “Business Combinations”) this transaction

was accounted for under the purchase method, which
resulted in a goodwill of KEUR 8,253. To start off with the
related goodwill acquired was amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of ten years. The “results of operations”
of syzygy France were included in the consolidated financial
statements since 1. August 2000. However, because of the
ongoing losses of syzygy France in 2001 the goodwill was
completely written off. 

Effective as of 1. August 2002 the company was sold in the
context of a management buy out. In accordance with the
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lives
Assets”, all assets, liabilities, earnings and expenses of
syzygy France were eliminated in the financial statements.
The Group accounts show the total result from the French
company in the line “losses from discontinued operations”.
The net income of syzygy is not changed by this reclassifi-
cation. In the prior year the assets and liabilities of syzygy
France are disclosed as available for sale.



stone is recognized when the Company has performed 
substantially all of its duties in relation to the milestone and
the client has accepted the deliverable.

Revenues from software licenses are recognized when the
software is delivered, in accordance with SOP 97-2, “Soft-
ware revenue recognition”, under the conditions that there
is an existing contract with a client, the license fee is fixed
and payment probable.

(d) Advertising
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred within sales and
marketing expenses. Advertising expenses were KEUR 143
in 2002 and KEUR 213 in 2001, of which KEUR 33 related to
the former French subsidiary. 

(e) Earnings per share
Earnings per share have been calculated in accordance with
the SFAS 128, “Earnings per share”. To calculate earnings
per share, the total net income of the Group is divided by the
weighted average number of issued shares for the period.
Earnings per share (fully diluted) are calculated under the
assumption that all outstanding options will be exercised.
Due to the loss of the Group in 2001 earnings per share were
not influenced by the number of outstanding options.
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5. Significant accounting policies

(a) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Estimates were main-
ly applied in evaluating of accruals and provisions as well
as receivables from applying the percentage of completion
method. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(b) Foreign currency translation
The financial statements of the fully consolidated foreign
subsidiaries are translated according to the functional cur-
rency method. Since these subsidiaries are economically
independent, and thus their functional currency is the local
currency, their balance sheets are translated into the
Group's reporting currency at the rates on the balance sheet
date ("closing rate") and their income statements are trans-
lated at annual average rates. Differences from the prior
year's translation of assets and liabilities and translation
differences between the balance sheet and the income
statement do not affect the income. The effects of foreign
currency translation are included in other comprehensive
income in the consolidated statements of changes in share-
holders' equity.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate with
resulting gains and losses reflected in other income/
expenses, net.

(c) Revenue recognition
Substantially all revenues are derived from consulting fees
and production of content for digital media. Revenue is real-
ized when the service is performed, in accordance with the
terms of the contractual agreement and when collection is
reasonably assured. 

Revenue from fixed fee consulting arrangements are gener-
ally recognized in accordance with Statement of Position
(SOP) 81-1, „Accounting for Performance of Construction-
Type and certain Construction-Type Contracts“, using the
percentage of completion method. The percentage of com-
pletion is calculated by the ratio of realized mandays to
planned mandays. Project plans are forecasted on a regular
basis. Provisions for estimated losses on contracts are set
up in the period such losses are determined.

In limited instances the Company is compensated only when
a project is completed. In such cases, the Company recog-
nizes revenue when it has performed substantially all of its
duties in relation to the project. Some of these projects
specify milestones during the life of the project and assign 
a portion of the total project revenue to those milestones. 
In such instances, revenue attached to a particular mile-
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(f) Current assets
Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value, which
approximates fair market value. Included in accounts receiv-
able are unbilled receivables related to fixed fee consulting
arrangements. Allowances are provided when deemed nec-
essary to reduce accounts receivable to their estimated net
realizable value after giving consideration to specific cus-
tomer and regional economic risks.

Other current assets are shown at their nominal value,
which approximates fair value. Prepaid expenses are deter-
mined by allocating expenses to the periods to which they
are attributable.

Marketable securities are classified as “available-for-sale”
in accordance with SFAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Invest-
ments in Debt and Equity Securities”. Accordingly these
securities are valued at fair market value at the balance
sheet date with unrealized gains and losses included in 
other comprehensive income, net of tax. 

(g) Accruals and liabilities
Accrued liabilities are recorded when an obligation to a third
party has been incurred, payment is probable and reason-
ably estimable. In determining accrued liabilities, all appli-
cable costs are taken into consideration.

Liabilities are shown at the amounts payable, which appro-
ximate fair market value.

(h) Web site development costs and software for
internal use

According to SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software to Sold, Lased or Otherwise Marketed”, expenses
for research and development are capitalized, if the costs
are incurred after reaching technological feasibility and
before market introduction. Incurred expenses were not
material. Development costs before reaching technological
feasibility are expensed as incurred.

Internal and external costs incurred in the planning or con-
ceptual development of the Company’s web site and soft-
ware for internal use are expensed as incurred. Once the
planning of conceptual development of a web site or the
software has been completed and the project has reached
this application or development stage, the following costs
are capitalized as fixed assets: 

+ External direct costs of materials and services used in
the project 

+ Payroll and payroll related costs for employees who 
are directly associated with and who devote time to the
project (to the extent of the time spent directly on the
project)

+ Costs of acquired software licenses

All the assets are amortized on a straightline basis over
their estimated useful lives, which usually is 3 years.

(i) Fixed assets
Fixed assets include leasehold improvements and other
equipment and are shown at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write
off the cost less estimated residual value on a straightline
basis over its estimated useful life. Maintenance and minor
repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated on a straightline basis over
their estimated useful lives or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter. Operational and office equipment is
depreciated on a straightline basis, normally over a period
of 3 or 4 years. 



(j) Accounting for long-lived assets
In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impair-
ment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the Company perio-
dically evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amount of
its long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amounts of those assets
may not be recoverable over the remaining amortization
period. The Company will compare undiscounted net cash
flows estimated to be generated by those assets to the car-
rying net book values of those assets. To the extent that
these cash flows are less than the carrying amounts of the
assets, the Company will record impairment losses to write
the asset down to market value. For assets for which no
readily determinable market value exists the assets are
written down to the estimated market value on basis of
expected discounted future cash flows. During the year 
ended 31. December 2002 and 2001 the company did not
record such an impairment loss.

(k) Accounting for stock-based compensation
As permitted by SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, the Company applies the intrinsic value-
based method in accordance with APB 25 for its employee
stock-based compensation plans. Under APB 25, the Com-
pany records expenses relating to its stock-based compen-
sation plans over the vesting period based upon the stock
options’ intrinsic value on the grant date. See Note (14) for 
a description of the Company’s stock option plans.

SFAS 123 requires disclosure of pro forma information
regarding net income and earnings per share as if the Com-
pany had accounted for its stock-based awards granted to
employees using the fair value method. The fair value of the
Company’s stock based awards was estimated as of the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
fair value of the Company’s stock-based awards was calcu-
lated using the following assumptions:

For pro forma purposes according to SFAS 123, the estimat-
ed fair value of the Company’s stock-based awards is amor-
tized over the vesting period. The Company’s pro forma infor-
mation for the year ended 31. December 2002 is as follows:
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2002 2001

Expected
life 5 years 5 years

Riskfree
interest rate 4.25% 4.60%

Expected volatility 70.00% 80.00%

Expected yield
on dividends 0.00% 0.00%

2002 2001

Net income in KEUR:

Net income
(without compensation
expenses) 452 –7,066

Compensation expenses
(using fair value method) –69 –149

Net income proforma 383 –7,215

Earnings per share in EUR:

Basic 
as reported 0.03 –0.60

Diluted 
as reported 0.03 –0.60

Basic – proforma 0.03 –0.60

Diluted – proforma 0.03 –0.60



| 37

6.5 Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The weighted-average fair value of all stock options granted
during 2002 was EUR 1.15 (2001: EUR 1.58), market value of
options granted in 2002 is EUR 1.87.

The effects of applying SFAS 123 on pro forma disclosures of
net income and earnings per share for 2002 are not likely to
be representative of the pro forma effects on net income and
earnings per share in the future since the assumptions used
to determine fair value can vary significantly. 

(l) Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are accounted for under the liability method
in accordance with SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Tax-
es". Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period of
enactment. 

Net operating loss carryforwards that are available to
reduce future taxes are recognized as deferred tax assets.
Such amounts are reduced by a valuation allowance to the
extent that it is not likely that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

(m) Comprehensive income
SFAS 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income", requires
companies to separately report the components of compre-
hensive income which is comprised of net income and other
comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income com-
prises the changes in equity from transactions and other
events not affecting net income except those resulting from
investments by or distributions to shareholders.

Both other comprehensive income and comprehensive
income are disclosed in the consolidated statements of
changes in shareholders' equity. Other comprehensive
income includes currency translation differences and un-
recognized gains and losses from marketable securities
classified as “available-for-sale”.

Accumulated other comprehensive income for the years end-
ed 31. December 2002 and 2001 consists of the following:

in KEUR 2002 2001

Foreign currency gains 
and losses, net 123 318

Unrealised gains of securities,
net of deferred tax 1,142 316

1,265 634

Unrealized gains of securities are reported net of deferred
tax which in 2002 amounted to KEUR 661 (2001: KEUR 113).

(n) Cash flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows shows the effect
of inflows and outflows during the course of the fiscal year
on the Group's cash and cash equivalents, and has been
prepared in accordance with SFAS 95, "Statement of Cash
Flows". The statement distinguishes between cash flows
from operating activities, investing activities, and financing
activities.

Cash payments made in 2002 for taxes amounted to 
KEUR 870 (2001: KEUR 820) and for interest KEUR 0 
(2001: KEUR 0).
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(o) Goodwill
Under SFAS 142, “Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intan-
gible Assets”, goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite lives will be subject to at least one annual assess-
ment for impairment. All other intangible assets with deter-
minable useful lives are to be amortized over their estimat-
ed useful lives. The provisions of SFAS 142 are applied since
1. January 2002.

As of 31. December 2002, syzygy had no goodwill falling
under the provisions of SFAS 142, and no other impact had
to be accounted for in 2002 because of SFAS 142. In 2001
goodwill amortization of KEUR 825 and extraordinary
impairment charges of KEUR 7,084 were incurred.

(p) Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial
statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.

(q) New accounting pronouncements
In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued SFAS 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure”. This Statement
provides methods of transition for a change from APB 25
“Accounting for Stocks Issued to Employees” to SFAS 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” for stock-
based employee compensation. Companies that adopt SFAS
148 are required to apply SFAS 123 prospectively for new
stock option awards, existing stock options are accounted
under APB 25. SFAS 148 is effective for fiscal years ending
after 15. December 2002. syzygy plans to account for its
existing stock option plans under the provisions of APB 25
and to apply SFAS 123 prospectively for new stock option
awards beginning 1. January 2003.

In November 2000, the FASB issued the FASB interpretation
(FIN) 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Require-
ments for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others”. FIN 45 requires a guarantor to rec-
ognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair
value of the obligation undertaken by it in issuing the guar-
antee. It also expands the disclosure requirements in the
financial statements of the guarantor with respect to its

obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. The
Company is required to adopt the initial recognition and ini-
tial measurement accounting provisions of this interpreta-
tion on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified
after 31. December 2002. The disclosure requirements have
been adopted by the Company as of 31. December 2002.
Other than that the Company does not anticipate the adop-
tion to have a material effect on its financial position or
results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. SFAS 146
replaces the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Cer-
tain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. This Statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs as-
sociated with exit or disposal activities. As SFAS 146 is
applicable to all activities commencing after 31. December
2002, there is no impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments in 2002. Potential future impacts have not yet been
analysed.
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In springtime 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 145 “Rescission
of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No.13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS145
addresses earnings and expenses in relation to debt aban-
donment which is of no relevance to the financial statements
of the Company.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144 “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. SFAS 144
establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets
to be disposed of by sale and replaces SFAS 121, “Account-
ing for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”. These new provisions also
have to be applied for accounting of discontinued operations
and replace APB 30 “Reporting Results of Operations –
Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Busi-
ness”; the separate disclosure of discontinued operations
has not been changed, but the definition and differentiation
of operations to be discontinued was modified. Also dis-
continued operations will only be accounted for when the
respective transactions have been carried out. SFAS 144 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after15. December 2001. 

syzygy disposed of its subsidiary syzygy France S.A. in
August 2002 which is disclosed in Note (12). There were no
further impacts from the application of SFAS 144.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143 “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations”. The new standard addresses
payment obligations resulting from the closure or disposal
of non-current assets. These asset retirement obligations
(ARO) are to be disclosed under liabilities at fair value, which
is determined on basis of the present value of future pay-
ments. The respective asset is to be adjusted in the same
amount. In subsequent periods the ARO will be adjusted to
its net present value whereas the revalued asset will be
depreciated over its useful life. When the retirement obliga-
tion is settled the ARO is reversed, a residual gain or loss is
recognized in income.

SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 15. June
2002. The application of SFAS 143 has no significant impact
on syzygy’s financial position or results of operations. 
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6. Revenues and segment reporting

The Company’s businesses operate within the European
market. These businesses provide a variety of consultancy
services around eBusiness solutions to large European
organizations. 

The Group is managed by geographical area. Accordingly,
segments refer to the two operating companies in the Unit-
ed Kingdom and Germany. These companies are managed
locally and, to a major extent, operate in their local markets
independently. The holding companies (syzygy AG and
Mediopoly) serve all operating entities and therefore are
segregated. The different segments follow the same
accounting principles as the Group. Transactions between
segments have been eliminated.

The operating activities of these companies and allocation 
of assets by geographic area for the years 2002 and 2001 are
presented in accordance with SFAS 131, “Disclosure About
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”:

in KEUR 2002 2001

Current assets:

UK 3,344 2,365

Germany 1,422 1,435

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK 59,969 57,027

64,735 60,827

Investments:

UK 111 160

Germany 139 402

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK 8 14

258 576

Fixed assets:

UK 763 1,022

Germany 524 675

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK 16 23

1,303 1,720

in KEUR 2002 2001

Revenues:

UK 7,227 6,702

Germany 6,995 7,997

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK 0 0

14,222 14,699

Operating income:

UK 634 –4

Germany 391 1,055

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK –1,965 –2,182

–940 –1,131

Depreciation included 
in operating income:

UK 335 572

Germany 322 328

Holding companies 
in Germany and UK 18 12

675 912

In 2001, two customers each accounted for more than 10%
of total revenues. Revenues generated with these two cus-
tomers amounted to 28% of total revenues.

In the United Kingdom income taxes of KEUR 241 (2001:
KEUR 14) were incurred. All other income taxes amount to
KEUR –241 (2001: KEUR 54) and refer to deferred taxes at
syzygy AG. 

In 2002, four customers each accounted for more than 10%
of total revenues. Revenues generated with these four cus-
tomers amounted to 67% of total revenues.
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7. Cost of purchased services 
and materials

Cost of purchased services and materials, which is included
in various captions in the consolidated income statement for
2002 and 2001, was as follows:

in KEUR 2002 2001

Cost of purchased 
services 1,741 1,183

In prior year syzygy France had 43 employees, as of the date
of disposal of the French subsidiary there were 41 people
employed.

9. Other operating income/
expenses, net

8. Personnel expenses/
number of employees

Personnel expenses, which are included in various captions
in the consolidated income statements for 2002 and 2001,
were as follows:

Restructuring costs include severance payments to laid off
employees at syzygy Deutschland GmbH and the restructur-
ing of the Management Board of syzygy AG as well as relat-
ed legal costs.

in KEUR 2002 2001

Interest and similar income 2,565 2,319

Gains from sale 
of securities 446 390

Losses from sale 
of securities –24 390

Interest expenses –19 –7

2,968 2,700

10. Financial resultThe average number of employees in Germany and the UK
was as follows:

2002 2001

Employees 125 130

in KEUR 2002 2001

Employee usage  
of company cars 55 42

Restructuring
costs –600 0

Other 78 25

–467 67

in KEUR 2002 2001

Salaries and wages 8,011 7,965

Social security 953 793

8,964 8,758
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in KEUR 2002 2001

Income before taxes 408 –7,114

Non-deductible expenses:

– Goodwill amortization 0 7,909

– Compensation 
expenses –146 115

– Deconsolidation 
syzygy France 330 –90

– Other tax free 
income/expenses 20 –90

Taxable income 612 820

German trade tax on income 91 122

Income after German 
trade tax 521 698

Corporate income tax 130 174

German trade tax on income 91 122

Solidarity surcharge 7 9

Tax effect on current 
year losses 296 355

Foreign tax rate 
differential –2 –23

Tax refund from 
dividend distribution 0 –570

Reversal of allowances 522 0

0 68

in KEUR 2002 2001

Domestic income taxes 462 54

Foreign income taxes 241 14

Income tax 
from continued 
operations 703 68

Deferred tax on losses 
from discontinued 
operations –703 0

0 68 

In 2002, income from continuing operations includes
deferred taxes of KEUR 462 (2001: KEUR 54).

In Germany, effective since 1. January 2001, a standard 
tax rate of 25% on both, distributed and retained earnings, 
is applicable. The tax rate amounts to 26.4% including the
solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on the standard tax rate. 

11. Income taxes The tax rate for municipal trade taxes was unchanged at
14.9%. Since municipal trade taxes are deductible from 
the corporate income tax base this leads to a combined
statutory rate of 37.3%.

The table below shows the reconciliation of the current 
German statutory corporate income tax rate of 25% and 
the effective tax rate:
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in KEUR Term 2002 2001

(+) Assets / (-) Liabilities:

Loss carryforwards syzygy AG short/long 1,919 2,201

Loss carryforwards syzygy France short/long 0 456

Deferred tax asset 1,919 2,657

Valuation allowance 0 –992

1,919 1,665

Deferred tax liabilities

Accounts receivable short –12 –38

Marketable securities short –661 –113

IPO costs short/long –1,397 –1,665

Development costs for websites short/long –30 –60

–2,100 –211

Deferred tax, net –181 –211

thereof:

Tax accruals and payables –703 –211

Settlement with shareholders‘ equity 522 0

Deferred tax assets and liabilities can be summarized as follows: 

In 2002, valuation allowances on deferred tax assets in 
relation to loss carryforwards of syzygy AG amounting to
KEUR 522 have been released as the developments in 2001
and 2002 and future planning of the Company make the 

utilization of these loss carryforwards probable despite 
of the changes in German tax laws. The utilization of loss
carryforwards is not limited in time.
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12. Discontinued operations

syzygy AG sold its shares in syzygy France S.A., effective as
of 1. August 2002, to the local management making an addi-
tional payment of KEUR 115 and holding up a guarantee for
rental commitments in an amount of KEUR 270.

According to SFAS 144 all income and expenses of the dis-
posed subsidiary and all expenses incurred in the context of
the disposal were disclosed under “Losses from discontin-
ued operations”. Prior years were adjusted accordingly.

According to SFAS 144 all assets and liabilities of syzygy
France S.A. were aggregated in the line “Held for disposi-
tion” as current asset or current liability. These captions
include the following:

in KEUR 2002 2001

Expenses:

Result syzygy France 
(2002: 7 months) –792 –857

Goodwill amortization 0 –7,909

Loss from 
deconsolidation –393 0

Rent guarantee –270 0

Payment –115 0

Legal costs –38 0

–1,608 –8,766 

Tax effects:

Loss on accounts
receivable 545 0

Rent guarantee 101 0

Payment 43 0

Legal costs 14 0

703 0 

Loss from discontinued 
operations –905 –8,766 

syzygy France realized revenues of KEUR 1,313 until 31. July
2002 (2001: KEUR 3,051).

in KEUR 2001

Held for disposition (current assets):

Accounts receivable 1,500

Other current assets 233

Investments 599

Non-current assets 169

2,501 

Held for disposition (Liabilities):

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 387

Tax accruals and payables 526

Other liabilities 512

1,425



employees. By this time, based on management’s estimate
of the fair market value, the companies were valued at GBP
8,0 mio. (GBP 68,11 per ordinary share) on 31. December
1998 and GBP 12,0 mio. (GBP102,17 per ordinary share) at
30. September 1999. The A shares granted had no expiration
date as to their conversion into ordinary shares.

The A shares were allocated as follows:
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13. Earnings per share

Earnings per share have been calculated in accordance with
SFAS 128, “Earnings per Share”. Earnings per share are cal-
culated by dividing consolidated net income by the average
number of shares outstanding during the year.

14. Stock-based compensation

syzygy has issued two different stock-based compensation
plans for its employees. The objectives of both plans include
attracting and retaining personnel and promoting the suc-
cess of the Company by providing employees the opportunity
to acquire shares.

Under APB 25, the Company recognized net compensation
income of KEUR 146 (expenses: KEUR 44; income: KEUR
190) as 247,163 options forfeited because of leaving employ-
ees. In 2001 net compensation expenses of KEUR 115 were
incurred.

(a) Employee share scheme
On 23. September 1998 Mediopoly introduced a stock-based
compensation plan which consisted of the allocation of a
second class of equity term “A shares”.

The shares were allocated in 3 tranches. The first tranche 
of shares were granted to senior management. When this
grant was made Mediopoly and its 100% subsidiary syzygy
UK were considered as a development-stage business, val-
ued by management at GBP 2,0 mio. (GBP17,03 per ordinary
share). The second and third tranches were granted to other

in thsd. 2002 2001

Average number of shares 12,000 12,000

Income 
from continuing 
operations (in KEUR) 1,312 1,584

Net income (in KEUR) 408 –7,182

EPS 
from continuing 
operations  (in EUR) 0.03 –0.13

Maximum dilution 533 617

Diluted EPS 
from continuing 
operations  (in EUR) 0.10 0.12

Diluted EPS  
(in EUR) 0.03 –0.60

Date of resolution Number Allotted

1. January 1997 6,000 23. September 1998

31. December 1998 3,221 14. April 1999

30. June 1999 408 30. June 1999

30% of the A shares were convertible into ordinary shares 
1 year after date of grant, 30% after 2 years and 40% after 
3 years. At 31. December 2001 none of the shares granted
had been converted into ordinary shares and 6,530 have
been forfeited.

In the course of the merger with syzygy AG and syzygy
Deutschland the conditions of this program were changed.
Instead of conversion into shares of Mediopoly, the A shares
were converted into shares of syzygy AG of equal value.
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in KEUR Term 2002 2001

(+) Assets / (-) Liabilities:

Loss carryforwards syzygy AG short/long 1,919 2,201

Loss carryforwards syzygy France short/long 0 456

Deferred tax asset 1,919 2,657

Valuation allowance 0 –992

1,919 1,665

Deferred tax liabilities

Accounts receivable short –12 –38

Marketable securities short –661 –113

IPO costs short/long –1,397 –1,665

Development costs for websites short/long –30 –60

–2,100 –211

Deferred tax, net –181 –211

thereof:

Tax accruals and payables –703 –211

Settlement with shareholders‘ equity 522 0

Deferred tax assets and liabilities can be summarized as follows: 

In 2002, valuation allowances on deferred tax assets in 
relation to loss carryforwards of syzygy AG amounting to
KEUR 522 have been released as the developments in 2001
and 2002 and future planning of the Company make the 

utilization of these loss carryforwards probable despite 
of the changes in German tax laws. The utilization of loss
carryforwards is not limited in time.
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16. Marketable securities

All securities are classified as “available-for-sale” and are therefore disclosed at market
value. At 31. December 2002 market value in total was KEUR 1,772 higher than acquisition
cost (prior year: KEUR 455). The prior year amount included unrealized gains of KEUR 709
and unrealized losses of KEUR 254. The unrealized gains are recorded under other compre-
hensive income, net of tax.

The maturities of the securities are as follows:

in KEUR < 1 year 1–5 years 5–10 years unlimited Total

Marketable 
securities 12,485 10,081 20,482 0 43,048

Investment 
certificates 0 0 0 14,012 14,012

12,485 10,081 20,482 14,012 57,060

17. Accounts receivable

in KEUR 2002 2001

Accounts receivable, 
trade, gross 3,193 3,125

Unbilled receivables 125 120

3,318 3,005

Less:
Allowance for bad debt –18 –31

Accounts receivable, 
trade, net 3,300 2,974

Receivables with recognizable collection risks are provided
for by adequate provisions, while uncollectible receivables
are written off. 

in KEUR 2002 2001
Historical Unrealised Unrealised Book value/ Book value/

costs gains losses market value market value

Marketable 
securities 41,656 1,571 –179 43,048 37,760

Investment 
certificates 13,632 555 –175 14,012 15,131

55,288 2,126 –354 57,060 52,891
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in Mio. EUR

Goodwill

Acquisition cost 1. January 2002 8,253

Additions 0

Disposals –8,253

Acquisition cost 31. December 2002 0

Accumulated amortization  
1. January 2002 8,253

Amortization of the period 0

Disposals –8,253

Accumulated amortization  
December 31, 2002 0

Net book value 31. December 2002 0

Net book value 31. December 2001 0

18. Prepaid expenses and other 
current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of 31. Decem-
ber 2002 and 2001 consist of the following:

in KEUR 2002 2001

Interest receivables 1,473 1,268

Tax receivables 1,166 1,578

Prepaid expenses 396 366

Other 103 71

3,138 3,283

Tax receivables mostly relate to capital gains taxes and VAT.
Prepaid expenses include advance payments for rent, digital
services and insurance.

19. Intangible assets

In 2002, all shares of syzygy France were sold to the local
management so that the goodwill, which had been com-
pletely written off in 2001, is disclosed as a disposal.
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20. Fixed assets

21. Other non-current assets

in KEUR Website development Leasehold Office Total
cost and improve- equipment

aquired software ments

Acquisition cost 1. January 2002 336 714 1,979 3,029

Additions 32 18 218 268

Disposals 0 0 –40 –40

Acquisition cost 31. December 2002 368 732 2,157 3,257

Accumulated depreciation 
1. January 2002 135 192 982 1,309

Depreciation of the period 103 100 472 675

Disposals 0 0 –30 –30

Accumulated depreciation 
December 31, 2002 238 292 1,424 1,954

Net book value 31. December 2002 130 440 733 1,303

Net book value 31. December 2001 201 522 997 1,720

in KEUR 2002 2001

Accounts payable 379 429

Accruals:

– Rental obligations 400 200

– Outstanding invoices 361 176

– Employee bonuses 267 0

– Annual shareholders meeting 
and annual report 200 160

– Clients bonuses 150 0

– Vacation days outstanding 104 78

– Rent guarantee syzygy France 84 0

– Audit costs 76 105

Other 22 31

2,043 1,179

22. Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accruals for rent obligations refer to subleased, respectively vacant office space in London,
Bad Homburg and Munich and is mainly dependent on the possibilities of future subleases.

in KEUR 2002 2001

Rental deposits 176 170
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25. Shareholders’ equity

We refer to the statement of changes in shareholders' equity
in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Common stock
At 31. December 2001 common stock comprised of
12,000,000 no-par ordinary bearer-shares. However, such
shares have a stated value of EUR 1.00 per share. All of
these are issued and outstanding.

The shareholders of the Company as of 31. December 2002
were as follows:

23. Tax accruals and liabilities (b) Authorized and contingent capital
With a shareholders resolution as of 26. July 2001, the 
Executive Board was authorized, subject to the approval of
the supervisory Board, to issue additional no-par bearer-
shares which may be issued through the period ending July,
2006. The issuance of all of these additional shares would
increase subscribed capital by KEUR 6,000 (authorized 
capital). No such additional shares were issued during the 
fiscal year.

Additionally, the Executive Board was authorized to issue a
maximum of 1,200,000 additional shares (contingent capital)
in conjunction with the employee stock option program as
described under Note 14 (b). Contingent capital represents
shares that are not yet issued or outstanding. As of 31. De-
cember 2002 a total of 533,508 of stock options to purchase
the same number of syzygy common shares had been grant-
ed to employees of the Group and the Board of directors.

(c) Additional paid-in capital
The additional paid-in capital is primarily related to the 
proceeds from the IPO on 6. October 2000, less direct cost 
of the IPO.

Shares
in thsd. % 

WPP Group (UK) Ltd. 
(directly and through subsidiaries) 2,786 23.2

EsNet, Ltd. 1,563 13.0

E-Net Two LLC 1,273 10.6

John Hunt (through a trustee) 1,227 10.2

Marco Seiler 798 6.7

HighCo S.A. 775 6.5

Chris Robson 228 1.9

Freefloat 3,350 27.9

12,000 100.0

in KEUR 2002 2001

Social insurances 
and salaries tax 299 305

Salaries and travel expenses 5 53

Other 20 15

324 373

in KEUR 2002 2001

Deferred tax 703 211

German value added tax 588 201

UK value added tax 349 220

UK income tax 235 102

German income tax 0 24

1,875 758

24. Other liabilities
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26. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Litigation
The Company is subject to occasional lawsuits, investiga-
tions and claims arising out of the normal conduct of busi-
ness. Management does not believe that the outcome of any
claims, asserted or unasserted, will have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.

(b) Operating leases
The Group companies have entered into lease rental agree-
ments for various facilities and vehicles. The future annual
minimum payments from these agreements amount to 

Total rental expenses under operating leases amounted to
KEUR 1,592 for the year 2002 and KEUR 1,582 for the year
2001. These expenses were set off by sublease income
amounting to KEUR 235 (2001: KEUR 35). The total of
expected future sublease income on basis of existing 
agreements is KEUR 353.

(c) Contingent liabilities
In relation to the sale of syzygy France S.A. guarantees of
KEUR 270 were maintained. From this guarantee payments
of KEUR 186 have been made in 2002. As management
expects that the guarantee will be completely utilized the
residual amount of KEUR 84 has been accrued for. 
The Company had no further contingent liabilities as of 
31. December 2002 and 2001.

Year in KEUR

2003 1,558

2004 1,408

2005 924

2006 924

2007 231

2008 0
and thereafter

Total 5,045
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(d) IPO-costs
According to US-GAAP direct cost related to an IPO are 
offset net of tax effects from the proceeds from the IPO.
According to German GAAP such expenses are to be record-
ed in earnings.

(e) Web site development cost
According to German GAAP it is generally not allowed to
capitalize internal cost for developing intangible assets.
Under US-GAAP certain direct cost for developing the com-
panies web site must be capitalized.

(f) Deferred taxes
Under German GAAP, deferred tax assets are not recorded
for net operating losses. Under US-GAAP, deferred tax
assets are recorded for net operating losses and a valuation
allowance is established when it is more likely than not that
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

27. Related party transactions

No material related party transactions occurred in 2002 
and 2001.

28. Subsequent events

After balance sheet date no extraordinary events occurred
which would have to be reported.

29. Significant differences between 
German and U.S. accounting 
principles

(a) Introduction
Being a holding corporation that owns the majority of shares
in other companies, syzygy AG is generally obliged to pre-
pare consolidated financial statements in accordance with
the accounting regulations set out in the German Commer-
cial Code ("Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB"). Section 292a HGB
offers an exemption from this obligation if consolidated
financial statements are prepared and published in accor-

dance with internationally accepted accounting principles
(e.g. US-GAAP). Nevertheless, when using this exemption
rule it is required to describe the significant differences
between the accounting methods applied and German
accounting methods. 

(b) Fundamental differences
German HGB accounting rules and US-GAAP are based 
on fundamentally different perspectives. While accounting
under the German HGB emphasizes the principle of caution
and creditor protection, the availability of relevant informa-
tion for shareholder decision-making is the chief objective 
of US-GAAP. The comparability of the financial statements –
both from year to year and from company to company – 
and the determination of performance on an accrual basis
therefore are more strongly emphasized under US-GAAP
than under HGB.

(c) Revenue recognition
According to US-GAAP under fixed price projects revenues
are recognized using the percentage of completion method,
if the performance of the project is in line with the contrac-
tual arrangements and the payment of the customer is
probable. According to German law only the capitalization 
of the expenses would be allowed so that the difference is
reflected in the margin.
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(g) Marketable securities
Under German GAAP, marketable debt and equity securities
are valued at the lower of acquisition cost or market value 
at the balance sheet date. Unrealized losses are included in
earnings. Under US-GAAP, marketable debt and equity
securities are categorized as either trading, available for
sale or held to maturity. The Company's securities are con-
sidered to be available for sale and, therefore, are valued
under US-GAAP at fair market value as of the balance sheet
date. Unrealized gains and losses for available for sale 
securities are reported net of tax in other comprehensive
income. 

(h) Compensation expenses
According to US-GAAP compensation expenses have to be
incurred for variable employee share plans and under spe-
cific circumstances also for fix plans which are not recog-
nized under German GAAP. Among other these compensa-
tion expenses have to be recognized when options are 
granted at exercise prices that are below market value of
the respective shares at the date the options are granted. 
By recognizing these compensation expenses the potential
dilution effect for the shareholders is reflected in the income
statement of the Company. 

(i) Losses from discontinued operations
According to US-GAAP all income effects in the context of
selling a separable business unit have to be disclosed in the
income statement below income from continuing operations
in a separate line item. This includes all income and expens-
es, net of tax effects. All assets and liabilities of the sold unit
are disclosed under current assets and current liabilities 
as ”held for disposition”. Prior years’ numbers have to be
reclassified accordingly.
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30. Executive Board

Marco Seiler
CEO, Management syzygy Deutschland

Sven-Roger von Schilling
CFO

Frank Wolfram
CTO, Management syzygy Deutschland

Chris Robson
CEO until 23. January 2002

The members of the Executive Board do not hold any Super-
visory Board or similar positions. Total remuneration of the
Executive Board members in 2002 was KEUR 1.008 includ-
ing salary and severance payments for the former Board
member. 
In 2002 a total number of 90,000 stock options with an aver-
age exercise price of EUR 3.42 was granted to the Executive
Board members. In 2001 53,000 options with an average
exercise price of EUR 5.21and in 2000 151,128 options with
an average exercise price of EUR 12.23 were granted to the
Board members. Because of Chris Robson leaving the com-
pany in 2002 a total number of 86,950 options with an aver-
age exercise price of EUR 10.50 were forfeited.

31. Supervisory Board

Michael Mädel 
(Chairman)
President J. Walter Thompson
Europe, Middle East and Africa

Adriaan Rietveld 
(Deputy Chairman)
General Managing Partner
EsNet, Ltd.
Supervisory Board, UbiQ b.v. Rotterdam

John Hunt
Supervisory Board, Pendragon Capital Ltd.
Investment advisor Supervisory Board, Paradigm Media Ltd.

Eric Salama 
(until 15. May 2002)
CEO wpp.com
WPP plc. Director of Strategy
Director of Metapack Ltd.
Trustee of the British Museum

Dan Campbell 
(until 15. May 2002)
General Managing Partner
EsNet, Ltd.
Board of Trustees Utah Valley State 
Board of Directors NuSkin Enterprises Inc.

Olivier Michel 
(until 15. May 2002)
CFO HighCo S.A.

R. Duff Thompson
(until 15. May 2002)
General Managing Partner
EsNet, Ltd.

The Supervisory Board received a remuneration 
of KEUR 45 for 2002.

28. February 2003

Executive Board

Marco Seiler, CEO

Sven-Roger von Schilling, CFO

Frank Wolfram, CTO
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We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of
syzygy AG as of 31. December 2002, the related conso-
lidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for the year ended 31. December
2002. Company management is responsible for the
preparation and content of the consolidated financial
statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional
standards prescribed by the German Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (IDW). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatements. The
determination of audit procedures considers the know-
ledge about the Company’s business and legal environ-
ment as well as expectations about possible errors. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing of
the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of syzygy AG as of 
31. December 2002 and the results of operations and

cash flows for the year ended 31. December 2002 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (US-GAAP).

Our audit which also includes the management report
for the fiscal year from 1. January to 31. December 2002
which is the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment, has not given rise to any reservations. In our opin-
ion the management report conveys a suitable presenta-
tion of the situation of the Company taken as a whole and
presents the risks to its future developments adequately.
Additionally, we confirm that the consolidated financial
statements and the Group’s management report for the
fiscal year from 1. January to 31. December 2002 meet
the requirements for an exemption to prepare consoli-
dated financial statements and the Group’s management
report in accordance with the rules and regulations of
the German Commercial Code.

Ernst & Young
Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Turowski Janssen
auditor/Wirtschaftsprüfer auditor/Wirtschaftsprüfer

Eschborn/Frankfurt a. M., 1. March 2003

Report of Independent Public Accountants.



56 |

6.7 Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders,

syzygy attained respectable earnings during the 2002 fin-
ancial year despite the weak economic environment that
plagued its national and international competitors.

During the 2002 financial year, the Supervisory Board
actively supported and monitored the work of the Board of
Management. The Supervisory Board went beyond its basic
obligations laid out by legislators and the Company's by-
laws. The Supervisory Board regularly informed itself
through oral and written reports about the current state of
business and risks to the Company. Four meetings and four
telephone conferences were held by the Supervisory Board
to monitor and guide the Board of Management and busi-
ness developments.

The meetings focused on budgeting and planning issues
during the year under review, the Company's quarterly per-
formance, the Company's strategic development and the
reduction of the Board of Management. In addition, the
Supervisory Board examined the performance of the syzygy
share as well as investor relations initiatives that had been
carried out.

Chris Robson was withdrawn from his position as CEO of 
the Company as of 23. January 2002. We would like to thank
him for all he accomplished at the Company. Marco Seiler,
founder of syzygy Deutschland GmbH and a member of the
Board of Management of syzygy AG since March of 2000,
assumed the position of CEO at syzygy AG.

The annual general meeting on 15. April 2002, followed the
proposals of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Man-
agement and resolved to reduce the Supervisory Board in
size from six to three members. The members of the Super-
visory Board Dan Campbell, Olivier Michel, Eric Salama and
Duff Thompson stepped down at the conclusion of the gen-
eral meeting. The shareholders elected Adriaan Rietveld to
replace Mr. Thompson. Mr. Rietveld will remain on the
Supervisory Board until the general assembly at which the
shareholders will vote on whether to formally approve the
actions of the members of the Supervisory Board for the
2004 financial year.

We would like to once again express our heartfelt thanks to
Messrs. Campbell, Michel, Salama and Thompson for their
dedication and achievements, particularly during our suc-
cessful IPO.

The Supervisory Board has familiarized itself thoroughly
with the standards for good and responsible management
contained in the German Corporate Governance Code. To-
gether with the Board of Management, the Supervisory
Board welcomes the Code presented by the governmental
commission. Every year, the Supervisory Board and the
Board of Management will declare the Company's comp-
liance with recommendations put forward by the govern-
mental commission and will also indicate which recom-
mendations were not or are not applied.

The Supervisory Board commissioned the audit of the com-
mercial year-end financial statements, the Group manage-
ment report and the exempting US-GAAP consolidated

Report of Supervisory Board.

Michael Mädel

John Hunt Adriaan Rietveld

financial statements in accordance with § 292a of the Ger-
man Commercial Code, including the management report
for the 2001 financial year of syzygy AG. The audit was per-
formed by Arthur Andersen Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-
schaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH, Eschborn/Frank-
furt. The auditors raised no objections, granting an unre-
stricted auditor's certificate to both the year-end financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements.

The Supervisory Board examined and discussed the year-
end financial statements and the management report in
March of 2003 and passed it in the presence of the members
of the Board of Management. The year-end financial state-
ments and the management report were approved, thus
completing the year-end financial statements.

The Supervisory Board continues to support the Company's
strategy. The Board would like to expressly thank the Board
of Management and all employees of the syzygy Group for
their unreserved dedication and achievements during the
2002 financial year.



PDA
Personal Digital Assistant, e.g. Palm or HP iPaq.

Sales Forces Automation System
Software used for supporting sales processes in compa-
nies.

Usability
The usability or user-friendliness of an interactive system.
Interactive systems are those that feature a man/machine
interface and respond to user actions. These include both
simple machines as well as highly sophisticated software
and websites.

Web Services
Technology for integrating heterogeneous software 
applications via the Internet with the aid of standardised
transmission protocols and data formats.

XML (Extensible Mark-up Language)
A simplified programming language based on SGML 
and which constitutes an advanced version of HTML. XML
permits the simplified and correct creation of complex
hypertext documents within the data traffic of the WWW.
In particular, XML is used in the e-commerce area of the
Internet.

Corporate Governance
In the wake of the globalisation of the financial markets,
good Corporate Governance is becoming increasingly
important not just for listed companies, as it is vital to
gain the acceptance of investors in the competitive mar-
ketplace. 
In international linguistic usage, the term Corporate
Governance denotes corporate management and corpo-
rate control geared to assuring long-term value creation.
In national linguistic usage, Corporate Governance de-
notes the legal and factual regulatory framework for the
management and monitoring of a company.
In future, companies wishing to successfully attract in-
vestors on the capital market will gear their corporate
management activities to the basic principles of a proper
Corporate Governance strategy.

e-business
The electronic processing of business processes either
within or between companies on the basis of Internet
technology.

e-commerce
Electronic processing of transactions via the Internet.

e-mail campaign
Addressing customers using the electronic medium of 
e-mail. The advantages are lower costs, high speed and
the immediacy of the contact. e-mail campaigns are cur-
rently the most popular form of marketing commonly
referred to as e-marketing, i.e. marketing conducted by
means of Internet technology.

Enterprise Application Integration (EAI)
Methods, software and processes for integrating various
software applications within companies or beyond the
confines of company boundaries.

Ergonomics
The adaptation of technology to humans. When devising
Internet pages, the term ‘ergonomics’ entails designing
websites with the user’s comfort in mind. This includes
the navigation, design and organisation of the information.
An Internet presentation should be clear, self-explanatory,
meet expectations, fault tolerant and intuitive.

Information Architecture
The design and arrangement of browser-based informa-
tion. Information architecture deals with the organisation
and layout of the information content of a website. This
includes both the structure of the individual pages and the
internal correlation of the pages. The objective here being
to assist the user in successfully and quickly finding spe-
cific information and understanding it.

Microsoft .NET
Technology initiative launched by Microsoft with the aim 
of developing software for business applications based on
Internet standards such as XML.

Mobile Commerce
e-commerce conducted using Internet-enabled mobile
terminals. Possible terminals include WAP or iMode-
enabled mobile telephones, in addition to PDAs with wire-
less Internet access via mobile communication or WLAN.

Glossary

syzygy in KEUR 1999* 2000* 2001* 2002

Revenues 8,390 14,174 14,699 14,222

Gross margin 3,573 5,953 5,632 5,337

in % of revenues 42.6% 42.0% 38.3% 37.5%

EBITDA 1,280 1,194 –243 –265

in % of revenues 15.2% 8.4% –1.65% –1.9%

EBIT 880 594 –1,131 –940

in % of revenues 10.5% –4.2% –7.7% –6.6%

Net income** 699 25 –7,182 408

in % of revenues 8.3% –0.1% –48.9% 2.8%

Earnings per share (basic in EUR) k.A. –0.02 –0.60 0.03

Employees (end of year) 86 150 121 125

Employees (annual average) 68 129 132 120

Revenue per employee (annual average) 123 110 111 119

Liquid funds and securities 1,050 55,878 54,570 58,297

Cash flow from operating activities 0,563 1,482 340 3,318

** Pro-forma-values

** Corresponds to definition per DVFA/SG
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syzygy UK Ltd.

4th Floor
Elsley House
24-30 Great Titchfield Street 
London W1W8BF
Großbritannien

Phone +44 (0) 20 7460 4080
Fax +44 (0) 20 7460 4081
E-Mail london@syzygy.net

syzygy Deutschland GmbH

Im Atzelnest 3 
D-61352 Bad Homburg v.d.H. 

Phone + 49 (0) 61 72 94 88 -100
Fax + 49 (0) 61 72 94 88 -270 
E-Mail info@syzygy.net

syzygy AG 

Investor Relations
Joachim Sorg
Im Atzelnest 3 
D-61352 Bad Homburg v.d.H. 

Phone + 49 (0) 61 72 94 88 -251 
Fax + 49 (0) 61 72 94 88 -272
E-Mail j.sorg@syzygy.net

www.syzygy.net 


